IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1552

Florida Bar No. 184170

EUGENE FRANCIS CLARKE and PHYLLIS CLARKE, his wife,

Petitioners,

vs.

UNITED SERVICES AUTOMOBILE ASSOCIATION, a reciprocal inter-insurance exchange,

Respondent.

# ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

### BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

EUGENE FRANCIS CLARKE and PHYLLIS CLARKE, his wife

(With Appendix)

Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Esquire Rosemary B. Wilder, Esquire Suite 302 1777 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (954) 525-5885 - Broward (954) 525-5885 - Dade

#### and

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

This is an appeal from a <u>non-jury</u> trial, where the appellate court accepted half the fact findings of the judge, and then substituted its own fact findings for the other half of the case and reversed the judge. United Services Automobile Association v. Clarke, 757 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). The Fourth District found no waiver of the right to deny coverage, ignoring the undisputed facts found by the judge that USAA stipulated that it did not follow its own procedures, which would have verified the verbal information given by Clarke to USAA; that such procedures were not followed on three separate occasions; and if the procedures had been followed, the erroneous military information contained in USAA's computer data would have been immediately clarified (T 17-19; R 829-835). The judge found that notice of the discrepancies was "glaringly apparent" in the Record; another fact finding rejected by the appellate panel. Clarke, 556. Because the Fourth District failed to apply the correct legal standard of review, this Court granted jurisdiction to resolve the conflict between Clarke and the other appellate decisions setting out the right standard of review. Conner; Shaw; Marcoux; Brown, infra. The Petitioner presents the facts in the light most favorable to the trial judge's fact-finding, as required by the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

The first witness called to the stand by USAA was Carol Ann Glatsby at (T 43), who changed her testimony from her deposition testimony. She had been a sales representative with USAA since

-1-

1986; in 1988 she was a new member sales representative (T 45-In 1987 she sold approximately 900 to 1,000 USAA policies 46). In viewing the application she filled out, in her hand (T 47). writing with her signature, she said she knew that she spoke with Eugene Clarke, but had no specific memory of the conversation (T 47). She testified that on May 4, 1988, Clarke called and was transferred to her by a USAA operator (T 48-51). Contrary to her deposition, she now said she gave him a new member number, while she had him on the phone (T 49-52). She was shown Plaintiff's Exhibit #9, which was the USAA computer sheet with Clarke's information (T 52-53). She took the eligibility information such as name, rank, social security number, date of commission, etc., typed it on the computer, as she spoke to Clarke on the phone since the system had been computerized. She testified that USAA was concerned about eligibility because the carrier was not open to the public because it was a private organization for military officers (T 55-56). She said that Plaintiff's Exhibit #9 was not actually the two computer screens that she would see, when she was taking the information (T 56-57).

Glatsby testified that to be eligible for membership in USAA, the applicant would have to be an active, or retired, officer commissioned in the military and the information that Clarke gave was that he had been a commissioned officer through officer's candidate school and he was no longer in the military (T 57-59). Clarke provided information regarding the two cars he was insuring; she took all this information down while she was talking to him on the phone (T 61-62). Glatsby testified the

-2-

only way to have the application completely filled out was to have the potential insured give the information over the telephone, but she did not type in the information regarding Clarke's occupation or education (T 62-63). She did not know who took that information, as she took the military information (T 63-64). Glatsby testified that even after the information was received over the phone, an insured still needed to establish eligibility; Clarke had called her back and the records indicated that she spoke to him a second time (T 65-67). Glatsby said that the information on the computer sheet showed that Clarke was an ex-officer, he was a captain no longer in the military, he went through officer's candidate school, he was married; and once the information was typed in on the computer screens, Glatsby would hit "enter" and Exhibit #9, a composite, would be produced (T 68-The printout was given to a technician, who typed in the 70). rest of the information on papers with carbons and one of those copies is removed and is supposed to be sent to the insured, along with a power of attorney and an eligibility certification form, to verify the information (T 70-71). It was not part of her job to send out those papers (T 71). She testified that she accepted the information as true and there was no reason to investigate (T 72). She said that she would not even investigate, even though the sheet showed, according to the information she took that Clarke would have been 17, when he was a commissioned officer (T 72).

She testified that regarding states where USAA insures all types of applicants, Clarke may not have been eligible in those

-3-

states either, because he lived in Florida, which was not a "take all comers" state (T 73-74). She took applications from people in these "take all comers" states, because they are required by law to do so; she never memorized the ranks; as who could be eligible and what type of rank was provided to them (T 75-76). She then identified four other attempted phone conversations with Clarke, regarding his homeowner's policy; but she never discussed eligibility with him (T 78-79).

Cross-examination began with Glatsby admitting that in her deposition she had testified she had relayed all Clarke's information to the eligibility specialist and it was the eligibility specialist who put the information in the computer; but now she was changing her testimony at trial to say she did it (T 80-81). She testified she did not know exactly what day she was on-line with the information (T 81). She was next impeached with the fact that in her deposition she admitted she was given training in eligibility and the various ranks in the military and what ages they were obtainable (T 82). She testified that if someone called up and said they had been through officer's candidate school and became a commissioned officer at the age of 17, she would not believe that information (T 82). She admitted that it was USAA's policy to make sure that all the correct information was obtained from the applicant by sending the mandatory follow-up forms, even though the person giving the information was an officer and gentleman (T 84-85). She verified that USAA required a signed certificate, certifying the information for the applicant to be eligible for its insurance;

-4-

and these written, signed documents had to be obtained before there was a determination that the applicant was eligible and would be issued a policy (T 85).

Once again, Glatsby testified that she had absolutely no recollection of speaking to Clarke whatsoever and she had no recollection of the conversation even from looking at the documents provided (T 86). She testified that even though there were spaces on the application for rank and branch of service, she did not type those in (T 86-87). Glatsby admitted that there was not a single USAA document written by her, that in any way indicated that Clarke had ever given her information that he was a captain, or that he was in the Air Force (T 88-90).

Glatsby was again impeached with her deposition testimony stating that USAA required the eligibility certificate to be signed and returned to it and that if it did not receive the certificate back with a written power of attorney, the policy would be cancelled (T 91-93). Glatsby continued to hedge about why Clarke's policy was not cancelled, when these certificates were not received back; and she was impeached with her deposition testimony that it would be logical to assume that either Clarke had returned the certificates; or USAA simply did not follow its own procedure; so the policy was still in effect two years after it was issued (T 94). She testified that she was a person who decided to place Clarke as an insured USAA member (T 95). Glatsby stated that USAA, in 1988, did not take information from Reserve Officer's Association magazines to solicit new members (T 97). Finally, Glatsby testified that the eligibility

-5-

certificate and the power of attorney and the application were all normally sent out in the same shipment to the potential insured and that was USAA's procedure (T 99).

The next witness called by USAA was Elaine Riding, who did marketing analysis and eligibility for USAA, who testified that in 1988 USAA did not do telephone solicitations, but did mail solicitations to people that were eligible, but other persons could be responding to USAA advertisements in military publications (T 111). She identified material sent to Clarke, after he had became a USAA insured, soliciting additional coverage, hurricane coverage, umbrella coverage, etc. (T 121-123). USAA did not consider this a solicitation, but rather informational new pieces (T 124).

On cross-examination, Riding testified that she was satisfied that in spite of the 114 page deposition testimony of Carol Glatsby where she testified was <u>not</u> directly on-line with Clarke; Riding was convinced Glatsby was on the computer (T 136). She admitted that in none of the documentation sent to Mr. Clarke was there ever anything that said if you are not eligible, contact us and let USAA know (T 135).

Next to testify was Marry Ibarra, an attorney for USAA (T 151-152). She gave the history of USAA, how each member shares in the profits and losses of the company and how they decided to insure military officers, because they would take care of each other where other insurance companies would not (T 154-155). She testified that the bylaws required membership in the organization to be limited to officers, retired officers, reserve

-6-

officers and some other limited groups; the reciprocal operates through an attorney-in fact relationship; and that when the pool of military personnel began downsizing in the '90s, additional groups were added, but not to this association (T 157-158). She testified it was absolutely material to know that the insured was a commissioned officer when applying, but admitted that USAA insured Japanese airline people (T 166-167); and she also described that in five or six states, that had "take all comers" requirements, USAA had to insure other people than its normal military market niche (T 167).

On cross-examination Ibarra testified that the Clarke case was her case and that the attorney who representing USAA at this trial reported to her (T 191), and she admitted the stipulation was true that USAA had not followed its own procedures in terms of sending out a follow-up verification of eligibility letter and a power of attorney, at the 30-day and 60-day cycle; and these procedures were not followed (T 191). Further questions were asked of Ibarra regarding USAA procedures, again the attorney for USAA stipulated that there was a procedure in place and had it been followed, an eligibility certificate would have been sent out, would have been returned and over time Clarke would have been cancelled according to USAA's routine procedure (T 195). Ibarra identified USAA documents showing different military ranks and the ages that went with them; the documents included a category for Japanese airlines, which covered their pilots; and she then said that USAA was denying coverage to Clarke under provision F of his policy (T 206-210). That provision allows for

-7-

cancellation under the condition that Clarke <u>knowingly</u> concealed or misrepresented a material fact (T 210). She identified the Complaint in the DEC action, noting that the date of the accident was September 25, 1989; and she testified that USAA insured Audie Murphy and George Bush at a time when they were a little more than 18 years old and were officers (T 213-216).

Next, the Plaintiff put on the deposition testimony of Eugene Clarke. His military record showed he was not suitable to remain in the military; and he did not know if the Reserve Officers' Association magazine always listed him as a captain and he did recall calling them to tell them to correct that (T 297-298). Clarke did not recall getting any welcome information package from USAA, nor he did recall talking to an operator about eligibility (T 299-300). He testified a copy of the Reserve Officers' Association magazine was sent to him as Captain E.F. Clarke and a solicitation letter for money (T 317). He used E. Francis Clarke on credit cards and that is how the magazine must have gotten that name (T 318-319). He testified he met someone named Mike Clark, who said he might submit his name and the next thing he knew he got literature in the mail to pay \$20 to join the Reserve Officers' Association (T 320-321). After he had been accepted to join ROA, when he got the literature in the mail; he does not know how they got the information that he was Captain E. Francis Clarke (T 323).

Clarke testified he never represented to anyone, whether it be USAA, or anyone else that he was a captain in the military, except perhaps to his postman when he got the ROA magazine

-8-

(T 324-325). USAA then rested and Clarke moved for an involuntary dismissal (directed verdict) since this was a non-jury trial (T 333-354). The judge ruled the case was going forward and Clarke could present his side (T 354).

The insurance expert witness called by Clarke was James Marshall, whose deposition was taken by USAA (T 369). Marshall testified that he thought there were factual disputes whether Clarke misrepresented his military status; as he did not see anything that would conclusively show that Clarke had done this (T 380-381). Marshall testified that forms attached to the policy, explained that what happened when information on the application was incorrect; and it stated that if that was the case, USAA would charge an additional premium to the insured (T 385-387). It also provided for cancellation, not for just misrepresentations, but for knowingly concealing or misrepresenting material facts or circumstances (T 387-388). He said this language should be interpreted as a material misrepresentation from the standpoint of the insured and whether he knew it was material (T 389). The provisions were ambiguous, because in one section of the policy it stated that if there was incorrect information USAA will charge an additional premium based on the corrected information; and in another section it said if there was a knowing misrepresentation the policy can be cancelled (T 390). He also found that the policy was more liberal than Florida statutes regarding misrepresentations, because under the statute the misrepresentation can be unknowing; but the USAA policy had a knowing misrepresentation standard

-9-

before the insurance could be cancelled (T 391-394). He testified that USAA advertising suggested that it went after military officers, which could be considered an elite group so officer status was material, but Clarke would not know that (T 398-399). It was his opinion that in order for USAA to be able to cancel the policy, according to the policy, there had to be a knowing misrepresentation of the material facts, so that the insured would have to know that the answer he gave was false and he would have to know that this was material to underwriters and they would not issue the policy if you had not given them this information (T 402).

USAA had a document in its files showing that Clarke was a captain at age 17, which would have been a clearly wrong answer and all the company had to do was compare it to its own standards for confirming eligibility; if USAA had done this, they would have been able to cancel or terminate the coverage prospectively, but they did not and therefore they waived their right, or were estopped, from denying coverage (T 406). Regarding coverage by estoppel, Marshall testified that to even get to that theory, you first had to assume there was no coverage; and he was not of the opinion there was no coverage, because he had not seen anything that conclusively showed that Clarke knew he was making a material misrepresentation (T 408). There was not even anything that showed that Clarke gave USAA the information they had; Clarke simply misunderstood the questions; or the application was typed by somebody else and not the person who took the information; but assuming arguendo there was a misrepresentation

-10-

of the type required in the insurance policy to void it, USAA still had an obligation with the incorrect information in their system, to void the policy prospectively (T 408-409). This company was in a win-win situation, where USAA got to hold the premium money, then if there was a loss, they can simply argue no coverage (T 409). He explained that the information on the application is for the insurer to use for the purpose of giving coverage or to deny coverage. Once the application was done, the customary practice was to notify the insured with a copy of it; and requesting follow-up information. The Court should be skeptical if the company did not follow their own procedures, if they did not get the correct information and the documents signed, to write the policy (T 414-415).

Portions of the deposition of Diane Moore, the senior adjuster for USAA were next read into the Record (T 429). As a corporate representative of USAA, she was denying coverage under a 1995 reservation of rights letter, because information came to the company that indicated that Clarke may not be a military officer in the service; through Answers to Interrogatories (T 432-435). Plaintiff's Exhibit #9 was a computed sheet; but she did not know when the computer system was integrated between underwriting and claims (T 440-441). In other words, when a USAA phone representative would be able to simultaneously put the information directly into the computer; as Glatsby said she had not done in her depo, but said she had done at trial; Moore had never searched a computer sheet before, nor pulled one up before; she did not know what the codes on the sheet meant; and she did

-11-

not know why USAA produced one copy of this data screen three times on the same piece of paper (T 440-442). She admitted that USAA authorized Clarke to settle with the tortfeasor for \$15,000 (T 443-444). She admitted that once these policy limits were accepted by the Plaintiff, he had no more rights to go back against that particular Defendant (T 445-446).

The deposition of Maria Garcia Francis was read, who testified that she had never heard of an officer being commissioned before age 22 (T 465-481).

A Motion for Directed Verdict/Closing Argument was commenced by the attorney for USAA at (T 482). He argued that for equitable estoppel there has to be the representation as to a material fact contrary to a later asserted position and change in position detrimental to the party claiming estoppel; but argued here there was no evidence or change to position as a result of Clarke relying on anything USAA did (T 483).

Counsel argued that to have a waiver you have to know you have that right and you have to intentionally waive that right, but USAA did not know at the time Clarke was not a military officer, so they did not waive the right (T 483-484). He said the <u>Independent Fire v. Arvidson</u>, <u>infra</u>, case, says the insurer is entitled to rely on information obtained in an application; so there was no waiver because they did not waive a non-right. He argued that another case said the statute precluding an insurer from disclaiming coverage unless it gives a reservation rights in 30 days, does not create or extend non-existent coverage, and therefore argued there is no duty to deny coverage at all (T 482-

-12-

485); that the policy has never been in effect because there was a material misrepresentation in the application under the claims administration statute.

Counsel for Clarke responded at (T 490), by arguing that USAA's policy calls for an intentional misrepresentation and there was nothing presented which showed an intentional misrepresentation. Counsel said it was unrebutted that USAA did not follow its own procedures; there was no evidence of intentional misrepresentation; USAA failed to verify the coverage in accordance to its procedure; and it is clear if USAA takes everything over the phone there can be miscommunication (T 490-491).

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