## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.: SC00-1552

EUGENE FRANCIS CLARKE and PHYLLIS CLARKE, his wife,	) )
Petitioners,	)
V.	)
UNITED STATES AUTOMOBILE	)
ASSOCIATION, a reciprocal inter-insurance exchange,	)
Respondent.	) )
	- <i>)</i>

# AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

William M. Martin, Esq.
PETERSON, BERNARD,
VANDENBERG, ZEI, GEISLER
GALLAGHER & HOWARD, P.A.
& MARTIN
Post Office Drawer 14126
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302

Betsy E. Gallagher, Esq. Florida Bar No.: 229644 J. Bowen Brown, Esq. Florida Bar No.: 898066 Post Office Box 2722 Tampa, Florida 33601-2722 (813) 277-0003 (813) 277-9002 (fax)

Co-counsel for Respondent

## **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Fourth District accepted the findings of fact of the trial court. In so doing the Fourth District accepted the trial court's findings that Clarke made material misrepresentations that he was formerly a captain in the Air Force and was commissioned in 1955. The evidence conclusively demonstrated that USAA would not have issued a policy of insurance to Clarke but for the misrepresentations. Although there are other categories of insureds, none applicable here, USAA insures officers or former officers of the military.

Section 627.409, Florida Statutes provides that misrepresentations preclude recovery under a policy when misrepresentations made during the negotiations or application are either fraudulent, material to the insurer, or would have prevented issuance of the policy.

The trial court found that USAA had constructive knowledge of the misrepresentation because it was "glaringly apparent" during the application process that Clarke would have been 17 years old at the time he was allegedly commissioned.

The court reasoned that since USAA had the date of Clarke's birth and the alleged date of his commission, albeit on two different computer screens, that it was tantamount from that information alone that Clarke claimed to be an officer when he was days short of being 18.

However the undisputed evidence showed that the dates of Clarke's birth (1937)and the date of his alleged commission (1955) were never placed adjacent to each other in the computer generated application; the two dates were on separate computer screens. The senior sales person who input the application information did not ask for the dates sequentially. The number 17 or "seventeen" did not appear anywhere on the two separate data sheets prepared by the USAA sales person. In 1955, the law allowed 17 years to be in the military, and the evidence presented showed that at least two persons have been officers at the age of 18. No evidence was presented that you could not be a member of the military at age 17 in 1955.

Petitioners make the following statement in their Summary of the Argument:

This is the only case ever in Florida in which an insurance carrier never obtained a written application for the policy, but nonetheless was able to avoid coverage for allegedly incorrect information given over the telephone to a salesman, who did not follow his company's procedure which required him to obtain a written application [BP 18].

This statement is misleading. First, the Florida statute which allows insurers to disclaim coverage does not require the misrepresentation to be in writing. In fact

the statute specifically references misrepresentations during negotiations, so oral misrepresentations were contemplated and are within the purview of the statue. Second, petitioners refer to "allegedly incorrect information." Based on substantial, competent evidence the trial court found Clarke made a material misrepresentation in the application for insurance, and he had made the same representation that he was formerly the captain in the military when he applied to be a member of an armed services related organization for officers or former officers. Third, although some internal procedures may not have been followed by the sales person, **none of those** procedures required the salesperson to obtain a written application from the petitioner. USAA's procedures were to mail and obtain an eligibility certificate and power of attorney from the member and cancel the policy if the documents were not returned. USAA was unsure why they did not receive these documents back from the insured or whether they were ever sent or received by the insured. However, USAA's mistake in their after application procedures was purely innocent as compared to petitioner's knowing misrepresentation.

Petitioners state many times that USAA would have discovered the misrepresentation had it followed its own procedures. There is absolutely no support in the record for that statement. The court found Clarke knew he had never been a commissioned officer in the United States Military and further that he misrepresented

to USAA that he was an officer in the Air Force. Petitioners are incorrect when they presume the fraudulent information would have been clarified if the procedures had been followed. There is no indication anywhere in the record that Clarke's fraud would have been immediately clarified. All of the evidence showed Clarke was intent on perpetuating the fraud as long as possible. For example, in the personal injury lawsuit below, Clarke attested incorrectly in discovery responses his position in the military.

Petitioners assert that USAA should be estopped from denying coverage because they accepted premiums for six years before filing the declaratory judgment action. However, based on Mr. Clarke's misrepresentations USAA had already paid multiple claims on the policy and those payments far exceeded the premiums charged to Clarke. USAA had no knowledge of the misrepresentations until well after the initiation of the underlying personal injury lawsuit as a result of Clarke's discovery responses. (R.X-T.III-432). Clarke even misrepresented his status in the air force during earlier discovery. He first attested incorrectly that he was a buck sergeant. He then lied again a second time when in response to a request for admissions he denied that he was not an officer. (Pet. Ex. #14).

The Fourth District correctly concluded based on the trial court findings that there was no waiver or estoppel and that USAA was entitled to void the policy.

Petitioners' argument is merely semantics, wherein they try to characterize a conclusion of law as a finding of fact and then assert that this contravenes case law established by this Court. There is no conflict with any case law. The Fourth District correctly reviewed the trial court's conclusions and determined that there could be no estoppel or waiver. In essence, the trial court's conclusion that USAA was estopped or waived the material misrepresentation conflict with established law on constructive notice and waiver.

Equitable public policy mandates that Clarke, who falsely and intentionally held himself out to be a commissioned officer, should not be permitted to benefit any more than he already has. It is bad public policy to reward fraud. A judgment in Clarke's favor rewards those who are untruthful. Clarke is the party here with unclean hands. If there was any mistake or inadvertencies on the part of USAA to follow its own internal procedure, it was an innocent mistake. Clarke cannot say the same.

There is no conflict between the underlying decision and any decisions of this Court or another district court of appeal. Jurisdiction of this case should be denied and the Fourth District decision should be approved.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court's findings of fact come to the district court of appeal clothed

with a presumption of correctness; such findings of fact will not be disturbed upon appellate review absent a showing that they are clearly erroneous or totally without any substantial evidentiary support. *In re Estate of Donner v. Anton*, 364 So. 2d 742, 748 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). More germane to this appeal, however, is the principle that a district court of appeal is not bound by a trial court's legal conclusions when those conclusions conflict with established law. *Holland v. Gross*, 89 So. 2d 255, 258 (Fla. 1956). In *Holland*, this Court stated:

A finding which rests on conclusions drawn from undisputed evidence, rather than on conflicts in the testimony, does not carry with it the same conclusiveness as a finding resting on probative disputed facts, but is rather in the nature of a legal conclusion . . . . When the appellate court is convinced that the trial court has misapplied the law to the established facts, than the decision is "clearly erroneous" and the appellate court will reverse because the trial court has 'failed to give legal effect to the evidence' in its entirety.

The issue of whether estoppel or waiver applies is a question of law for the court, especially here where the facts are undisputed, admitted and clearly reflected in the record. *Anderman v. Miller*, 359 So. 2d 472, 474 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978)(trial court finding of no estoppel upheld where record showed as a matter of law that estoppel was not established); *Tollius v. Dutch Inns of America, Inc.*, 244 So. 2d 467, 470-71 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970). *See also Camp v. Moseley*, 2 Fla. 171 (1848)(the issue of whether the doctrine of estoppel applies is an issue of law for the court).

It must also be noted that petitioners incorrectly state here, as they did in the

court below, the standard for finding fraud. They argue that the Final judgment should be affirmed relying on a "clear and convincing" standard. (BP 31). The "clear and convincing" standard does not apply to findings of fraud or any other issues in this appeal. *See, e.g., Wieczoreck v. H & H Builders, Inc.*, 475 So. 2d 227(Fla. 1985).

### **POINT ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW**

WHETHER THE **FOURTH** DISTRICT DECISION SHOULD BEAFFIRMED: **FOURTH** WHETHER THE DISTRICT ACCEPTED THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND FOLLOWED ESTABLISHED LAW IN DISAGREEING WITH THE TRIAL COURT'S CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S DECISION SHOULD BE APPROVED; THE COURT ACCEPTED THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND FOLLOWED ESTABLISHED LAW IN DISAGREEING WITH THE TRIAL COURT'S CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

Petitioners argue that the Fourth District reversed the trial court's finding of fact. (BP 21-29). Specifically, petitioners argue that the Fourth District did not believe that the misrepresentation was "glaringly apparent" and therefore, the court "de novo substituted its own view of the evidence." (BP 21). Petitioners presume that this is a finding of fact in an attempt to give the statement more weight. In reality, the trial

court drew a legal conclusion that the misrepresentation was glaringly apparent. In other words, there was no finding of fact. After reviewing the fact findings, the trial court concluded there was a material misrepresentation; the misrepresentation should have been apparent to USAA; and therefore USAA has waived or was estopped from asserting misrepresentation. The Fourth District reviewed the findings of fact and came to a different legal conclusion.

The Fourth District emphasized the trial court's findings that Clarke had told USAA he was an officer, that he misrepresented this fact and that his status was material in determining eligibility. *Clarke*, 757 at 556. The Fourth District also pointed out: "[B]ut for the misrepresentation, USAA would not have issued the policy." The Fourth District noted that the trial court "found USAA waived its military right to rescind the policy because USAA had constructive knowledge of the misrepresentation." *Id.* Then, the Fourth District distinguished the case on which the trial court relied--*Johnson v. Life Ins. Co. of Georgia*, 52 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 1951)--and held that USAA was entitled to void the policy pursuant to F.S. 627.409 (a) and (b)<sup>10</sup>.

As the Fourth District decision states, *Johnson* involved a situation where the insurance agent had "actual knowledge of the insured's tubercular condition after the policy was issued, yet the company continued to accept premiums until the insured's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See footnote 7, page 15 for the language of the statute.

death." *Id.* The Fourth District pointed out that unlike the facts in *Johnson* "in this case no insurance agent had actual knowledge of the false information furnished by the insured and there were no circumstances which sufficiently put USAA on notice of the true facts such that it should be charged with knowledge of those facts."11 Clarke, 757 at 556. The Fourth District continued, "[h]ere, there was no 'deliberate disregard of information sufficient to excite attention and call for inquiry as to the existence of facts by reasons of which forfeiture could be declared." citing Johnson at 815. The court based its conclusion of law on the evidence which showed that USAA's information on Clarke's birth and commission dates was provided over the phone to USAA's senior sales representative. "She, in turn, input the information on different computer screens that did not display the two dates next to each other." Clarke at 556. "USAA's sole allegation of misrepresentation was not "based on a single computer printout called a customer profile screen" as petitioners incorrectly state several times. (BP 31, 3,10,40). The information was provided on two different screens as described above and in the Statement of the Facts. (R.VIII-T.I- 56-57).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Petitioners misrepresent the Fourth Districts's decision by stating that the Fourth District requires **actual knowledge** of the misrepresentation by the insurer to apply the doctrine of waiver. BP 25. The Fourth District found that USAA did not have constructive knowledge because "there were no circumstances which sufficiently put USAA on notice of the true facts such that it should be charged with knowledge of those facts." *Clarke* at 556.

On this evidence the Fourth District held that the age discrepancy was "not readily apparent and did not call attention to any situation leading to further inquiry." The Fourth District held that the trial court erroneously applied *Johnson* to the facts of this case. The Fourth District reviewed the findings of fact and concluded that there was no waiver or estoppel. The case was reversed with instructions for a judgment to be entered in favor of USAA<sup>12</sup>.

The doctrine of estoppel is an equitable doctrine. *Lennar Homes, Inc v. Gabb Const. Services, Inc.*, 654So.2d 649 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). The elements of waiver are the existence of a right that can be waived, actual or constructive knowledge of the right and the intent to relinquish the right. *Leonardo v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co.*, 675 So. 2d 176,178 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1996).

Constructive knowledge has been defined as a "deliberate disregard of suspicious information. . . ." *Johnson v. Life Ins. Co. of Georgia*, 52 So.2d 813 (Fla. 1951). Information is "suspicious" when a party "has actual knowledge of facts and circumstances that would lead a reasonable person to inquire and discover the fact in question or infer its existence." *Dadeland Dodge, Inc. v. American Vehicle Ins. Co.*, 698 So.2d 929, 931 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997). However, in order to constitute constructive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>In this regard, it is puzzling why petitioner addresses a directed verdict, since that issue is not before this Court. BP 29-31.

knowledge, the facts must "border on actual knowledge." *Vega v. Independent Fire Ins. Co.*, 651 So.2d 743, 745 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). Here, there was no knowledge, actual or constructive, concerning respondent's misrepresentation about his military service.

First and foremost, USAA had no knowledge, direct of otherwise that Clarke was not an officer. Respondents did not introduce any evidence that USAA knew or should have known Clarke was not an officer. Instead, the only evidence is that USAA had his date of birth and date of commission.

USAA had no actual knowledge and no direct constructive knowledge that the respondent might be too young to be an officer. No evidence was ever presented that age 17 was too young to be an officer<sup>13</sup>. *See supra* note 11. USAA never reviewed the computer information with Clarke's date of birth near his date of commission introduced at trial. (R.VIII-T.I-57). The testimony was that this screen, while it existed within the computer, was not something that was displayed by an operator. (R.VIII-T.I-57). Indeed, this is not how USAA discovered the misrepresentation; it was uncovered through discovery in the civil suit initiated by Clarke. (R.X-T.III-432). The senior sales representative who took the information never saw the date of Clarke's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The only evidence that comes close on this issue had prospective application. (*See* Pet. Ex. #6).

purported commission next to his date of birth. (R.VIII-T.I-57). Further, the screen itself does not make it "glaringly apparent" that Clarke was nearly 18 when commissioned. In fact, the composite screen is segregated into eligibility information and background information.

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